Appeal No. 23-CO-645



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 09/07/2023 12:05 PM Filed 09/07/2023 12:05 PM

RODNEY C. WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia **Criminal Division**

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

SAMIA FAM

MIKEL-MEREDITH WEIDMAN

* PAUL MANERI

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 Indiana Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20004

* Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Under the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act ("IRAA"), D.C. Code § 24-403.03, a person whose first application for a sentence reduction is unsuccessful may file a second application "no sooner than 3 years after the date that the order on the initial application becomes final." D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d). The issue presented in this case is whether that three-year waiting period begins on the date of the trial court's final order denying the initial application, or, as the trial court held *sua sponte*, on the date of the appellate mandate affirming the trial court's denial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

In a written order issued June 24, 2019, the Honorable Michael K. O'Keefe denied Mr. Williams's first motion under the IRAA, insofar as that motion requested a modification of sentence that would allow for Mr. Williams's immediate release. On September 3, 2019, the trial court denied a motion for reconsideration. Mr. Williams filed a notice of appeal on September 6, 2019, and this Court affirmed in an unpublished memorandum opinion on September 14, 2021. *See Rodney C. Williams v. United States*, No. 19-CO-809, Mem. Op. & J. (D.C. Sept. 14, 2021). The mandate issued on October 6, 2021.

On January 25, 2023, Mr. Williams filed a Notice of Intent to file his second IRAA motion. On March 28, 2023, Judge O'Keefe issued a scheduling order whereby Mr. Williams's motion would be due July 26, 2023. Two weeks later, the court *sua sponte* notified the parties, via email, that it believed that Mr. Williams's second IRAA motion would not be timely under D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d) until three years after the appellate mandate affirming the denial of his first motion; in

other words, Mr. Williams would not be eligible to file a second motion until October 6, 2024. In response to the court's email, Mr. Williams filed a motion to establish the timeliness of his second IRAA motion. On July 7, 2023, the court denied Mr. Williams's motion to establish timeliness and vacated the briefing schedule, adhering to its view that "Mr. Williams is not eligible to file a second IRAA motion until October 6, 2024." App. C at 19.

This Court has jurisdiction over this interlocutory appeal under the collateral order doctrine. *See generally Stein v. United States*, 532 A.2d 641, 643 (D.C. 1987). The trial court's order holding that Mr. Williams must wait until October 6, 2024 to file his second IRAA motion satisfies all three requirements for that doctrine to apply: First, the order "conclusively determine[d]" that Mr. Williams was not yet eligible to file his second IRAA motion. *In re Taylor*, 241 A.3d 287, 299 (D.C. 2020). Second, the date on which Mr. Williams may have his second IRAA motion considered is "an important issue that is completely separate from the merits of the action[]." *Id.* And third, the court's interlocutory order will be "effectively unappealable from a final judgment in [this] action," *id*: Mr. Williams's statutory right to have his second IRAA motion considered before October 6, 2024 "will be irretrievably lost unless an immediate appeal is allowed." *Meyers v. United States*, 730 A.2d 155, 157 (D.C. 1999); *see also In re G.B.*, 139 A.3d 885, 890 (D.C. 2016).

¹ Because the trial court's order vacated its earlier scheduling order and effectively dismissed Mr. Williams's impending IRAA motion as untimely, the trial court's order could also be construed as dismissing without prejudice Mr. Williams's second IRAA motion, which would provide an alternative basis for appellate jurisdiction. *Cf. Holmes v. D.C.*, 267 A.3d 1028, 1031 (D.C. 2022) ("[D]ismissal of a complaint,

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Williams has been incarcerated for 41 years for a series of crimes that he committed in 1982, when he was 17 years old. He was charged and prosecuted as an adult, ultimately pleading guilty and receiving an aggregate sentence of 57 to 117 years in prison.

On December 9, 2018, after serving 36 years of his sentence, Mr. Williams filed his first IRAA motion. In a written order issued June 24, 2019, the trial court denied Mr. Williams's motion insofar as it requested a modification of sentence that would allow for his immediate release; the court instead modified Mr. Williams's sentence to make him immediately eligible for parole. Mr. Williams filed a motion for reconsideration on July 20, 2019, which the trial court denied on September 3, 2019. Mr. Williams filed a notice of appeal on September 6, 2019. Over two years later, this Court affirmed the judgment of the trial court in a memorandum opinion. The mandate issued on October 6, 2021.

On January 25, 2023, Mr. Williams filed a Notice of Intent to file his second IRAA motion.² On March 28, 2023, the trial court ordered that Mr. Williams's

even without prejudice, is sufficiently drastic to be deemed final, and therefore appealable." (quoting *Perry v. D.C.*, 474 A.2d 824, 825–26 (D.C. 1984)).

² In November 2022, the Superior Court issued guidelines for IRAA procedure requiring that counsel for all IRAA petitioners file a Notice of Intent to file an IRAA motion as the first step in the process. *See* IRAA Guidelines and Procedures, D.C. Super. Ct. (Nov. 7, 2022) (attached as App. D); *cf. Bostic v. D.C.*, 906 A.2d 327, 332 (2006) (Court of Appeals "may take judicial notice of laws, statutes, and other matters of public record"). Upon receipt of a Notice of Intent, the Criminal Division's Clerk's Office assigns the expected motion according to an assignment wheel, at which point the assigned judge must issue a standard IRAA scheduling order. Under the standard scheduling order, the IRAA motion is due 120 days from

motion would be due on July 26, 2023, and set subsequent deadlines for the government's response and Mr. Williams's reply. Two weeks later, the court *sua sponte* notified the parties, via email, that it intended to vacate the scheduling order based on its belief that Mr. Williams's second IRAA motion would not be timely under D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d) until three years after the appellate mandate affirming the denial of his first motion. The court did not, however, vacate the scheduling order at that time. *See* App. C at 2–3.

On June 9, 2023, Mr. Williams filed a "Motion To Establish Timeliness" of his second IRAA motion, arguing that an IRAA order "becomes final" when there is nothing left for the trial court to do in the matter, such that the order constitutes a final judgment for the purpose of appellate jurisdiction. Under that interpretation, Mr. Williams would have been able to file his second IRAA motion as early as June 24, 2022.

Mr. Williams and *amicus curiae* PDS explained that the text, structure, history, and purpose of the IRAA all point to the D.C. Council's intent to start the three-year waiting period on the date of the trial court's written order denying or granting only in part the initial IRAA application. They argued that the word "final" commonly refers to the point at which a matter may be appealed. App. A at 2; App. B at 3–4. And by specifying that the three-year clock does not begin to run until the order on the initial application "becomes final," the Council preempted any

the date of the scheduling order, the government's response is due 120 days from the date of the IRAA motion filing, and the petitioner's reply is due 30 days from the date of the government's response. According to the guidelines, IRAA hearings should take place approximately 60–90 days after the government's response is filed.

confusion about whether the waiting period would begin on the date of a non-final oral order (which might be pronounced at the statutorily required hearing on the motion, *see* D.C. Code § 24-403.03(b)(2)), or instead on the date of a final written order. *See* App. A at 4; App. B at 3–5. Mr. Williams and PDS also pointed to the statute's legislative history, which states that "[i]f the defendant's initial application is unsuccessful, they may make a second application five years after *the order* on the first application." App. B at 5 (quoting D.C. Council Comm. on the Judiciary, Rep. on Bill 21-0683 at 14 (Oct. 5. 2016) (emphasis added)). And they argued that interpreting the statute's waiting period to begin on the date of the appellate mandate would lead to arbitrary results and clash with the overarching purpose of the IRAA and the Council's repeated efforts to expand and expedite consideration of IRAA motions. *Id.* at 5–9. The government did not oppose Mr. Williams's motion.

On July 7, 2023, the trial court denied Mr. Williams's motion to establish timeliness and vacated its earlier scheduling order, adhering to its view that "Mr. Williams is not eligible to file a second IRAA motion until October 6, 2024." App. C at 19. The court reached this conclusion primarily by inferring that "the order on the initial application" discussed in subsection (d) of the statute "refer[s] to the written opinion commanded by subsection (b)(4)." *Id.* at 8; *see* D.C. Code § 24-403.03(b)(4) ("The court shall issue an opinion in writing stating the reasons for granting or denying the application under this section[.]"). With that inference in place, the court determined that if "the order on the initial application" already refers to the final, written order, then the phrase "becomes final" must refer to a procedural

step after the trial court's final order, lest that phrase become superfluous. App. C at 8–9.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because "the order on [an] initial [IRAA] application becomes final" when the trial court issues a final, appealable order, Mr. Williams became eligible to file his second IRAA motion three years after the trial court's written order denying his initial motion. D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d). All of the traditional tools of statutory interpretation point squarely toward that conclusion.

First, the word "final" is best understood here, as a descriptor of the word "order," as the point at which the court issuing the order has nothing left to do in the matter—in practical terms, when the court issues its written opinion denying the motion. See Final, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019) (defining "final" as "not requiring any further judicial action by the court that rendered judgment to determine the matter litigated; concluded"). That straightforward meaning is reflected in how the government, this Court, and multiple other Superior Court judges have understood subsection (d). See, e.g., Williams v. United States, 205 A.3d 837, 848 (D.C. 2019) ("If a defendant's initial motion for a reduced sentence is denied . . . [t]he defendant may file a second sentence reduction motion after five years[.]"). Second, that interpretation is confirmed by clear evidence from the legislative history, which shows that the Council intended for petitioners to be able to "make a second application five years after the order on the first application." D.C. Council Comm. on the Judiciary, Rep. on Bill 21-0683 at 14 (Oct. 5, 2016) (emphasis added). Third, reading subsection (d) in light of the IRAA's purpose—to

reduce the incarceration of people serving long sentences for crimes that they committed in their youth by providing them multiple opportunities to prove their rehabilitation—further supports Mr. Williams's interpretation. Finally, to the extent that this Court has any remaining doubt about the correct interpretation of the IRAA, the rule of lenity requires resolving that doubt in Mr. Williams's favor.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. Statutory Background

Enacted as part of "a groundbreaking juvenile justice reform omnibus bill" in 2016,³ the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act is intended to reduce the incarceration of people who committed serious offenses as children or young adults by "ensuring that all [youthful] offenders serving lengthy prison terms have a realistic, meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on their diminished culpability and their maturation and rehabilitation." *Williams v. United States*, 205 A.3d 837, 846 (D.C. 2019). Consistent with that purpose, the IRAA provides all eligible petitioners with three opportunities to prove that they can be safely released to the community. *See* D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d).

To understand how the waiting periods in subsection (d) fit into the overall statutory scheme, it helps to start with the statute's origins: "a line of Supreme Court jurisprudence regarding developmentally-appropriate sentencing." 2020 Committee Report, *supra* note 3 at 13. In 2010, the Supreme Court held that when a juvenile is sentenced to life without parole ("LWOP") for a non-homicide crime, the State must

7

³ D.C. Council, Comm. on the Judiciary & Public Safety, Rep. on Bill 23-0127 at 13 (Nov. 3, 2020) (hereinafter "2020 Committee Report").

give that person "some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 75 (2010). Two years later, in *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the Court extended *Graham* and "held that the Eighth Amendment forbids a sentencing scheme under which LWOP is mandatory for *any* class of juvenile offenders." *Williams*, 205 A.3d at 843 (emphasis in *Williams*). Based on the premise that "children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing," *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 471, "*Miller* required that sentencing courts consider a child's 'diminished culpability and heightened capacity for change' before condemning him or her to die in prison." *Montgomery v. Lousiana*, 577 U.S. 190, 195 (2016) (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479).

"The Council of the District of Columbia responded to the constitutional imperatives declared in *Graham*, *Miller*, and *Montgomery* by passing the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act of 2016 (the 'IRAA')." *Williams*, 205 A.3d at 846. As noted, the IRAA "establishe[d] a sentence review procedure intended to comply with the Supreme Court's LWOP decisions by ensuring that all juvenile offenders serving lengthy prison terms have a realistic, meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on their diminished culpability and their maturation and rehabilitation." *Id.* However, in order to accomplish the Council's goal of reducing incarceration, the IRAA goes beyond what was constitutionally required by *Miller* and *Montgomery*: for instance, whereas *Montgomery* held that parole consideration would satisfy the Eighth Amendment, the IRAA "provides defendants significant procedural guarantees, in contrast to the minimal procedures

that the Constitution requires in parole proceedings." *Id.* at 853 (internal quotation marks omitted). Among these "procedural guarantees" is "a written, structured decision by the judge that [compared to a parole decision] is subject to more stringent constitutional and statutory requirements and is more fully reviewable on appeal." *Id.*

As *Williams* observed, the IRAA includes another procedural guarantee aimed at reducing incarceration and providing meaningful opportunities to obtain release: the provision allowing petitioners to file up to three motions for relief. Under the version of the statute applicable in *Williams*, "[i]f a defendant's initial motion for a reduced sentence [was] denied," the statute allowed for "a second sentence reduction motion after five years" and "a third such motion after another five years." *Id.* at 848.⁴ These waiting periods, the Court explained, allow initially unsuccessful petitioners time to accumulate additional evidence of "demonstrable maturity and rehabilitation": if an IRAA applicant's first petition is unsuccessful, he has "another five years in which to make further progress before he can take the second chance, and yet another five years before he can take his third chance." *Id.* at 855.

As initially enacted, the IRAA limited eligibility for sentencing relief to those who, like Mr. Williams, were 18 or younger at the time of their offense and who had

_

⁴ Compare D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d) (2023) ("[A] court shall entertain a 2nd application under this section no sooner than 3 years after the date that the order on the initial application becomes final.") (emphasis added); with D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d) (2017) ([A] court shall entertain a 2nd application under this section no sooner than 5 years after the date that the order on the initial application becomes final.") (emphasis added).

served at least 20 years in prison. See D.C. Code § 24-403.03(a) (2017). Since Williams was decided, however, the D.C. Council has twice amended the IRAA to expand the number of people who are eligible for sentence reductions and sharpen the statute's focus on petitioners' rehabilitation. Most notably for this appeal, the Council amended subsection (d) in 2019 to reduce the waiting period between successive motions from five to three years,⁵ suggesting that three years is a sufficient amount of time for a petitioner to "make further progress" before taking a second chance at proving his rehabilitation. Other 2019 amendments reduced the number of years in prison a defendant must serve before filing an initial IRAA application (from 20 to 15); made IRAA available to those who were already eligible for parole; removed "the nature of the offense" from the factors that the court must consider; amended the statute to state explicitly that the diminished culpability and hallmark characteristics of youth counsel against not just "lifetime" sentences, but all "lengthy terms in prison, despite the brutality or cold-blooded nature of any particular crime," D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c)(10); and made relief mandatory upon a finding that an applicant is not dangerous and that the interests of justice warrant a sentence reduction.⁶ In 2021, emphasizing data "showing clearly that reducing mass

⁵ Omnibus Public Safety and Justice Amendment Act of 2018, D.C. Law 22-313, § 16(b)(4), 66 D.C. Reg. 6308, 6308 (eff. May 10, 2019).

⁶ *Id.* §§ 16(b)(1), (b)(3).

incarceration does not come at the cost of public safety," the Council extended IRAA eligibility to people serving sentences for offenses committed before age 25.7

All told, the IRAA requires a judicial determination entirely distinct from guilt or innocence, and different even from the task faced by the initial sentencing judge: it "requires judges to . . . consider whether" a petitioner has "earned back [his] liberty by demonstrating [his] capacity for reformation." Williams, 205 A.3d at 849. The validity of a petitioner's underlying conviction is irrelevant. See D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c)(10) (requiring that courts consider "[t]he diminished culpability of juveniles and persons under age 25, ... and the hallmark features of youth, ... which counsel against sentencing them to lengthy terms in prison, despite the brutality or cold-blooded nature of any particular crime" (emphasis added)). And the IRAA recognizes that a person's evidence of reformation changes over time: not only does the statute provide for successive applications separated by three years, D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d), it also requires the court to consider dynamic factors such as "[w]hether the defendant has substantially complied with" institutional rules, id. § 24-403.03(c)(3), "whether the defendant has completed any education, vocational, or other program," id., and "[w]hether the defendant has demonstrated maturity, rehabilitation, and a fitness to reenter society," id. § 24-403.03(c)(5).

⁷ 2020 Committee Report at 18 (quoting Cameron Kimble and Ames Grawert, *Between 2007 and 2017, 34 States Reduced Crime and Incarceration in Tandem*, Brennan Center (Aug. 6, 2019)).

II. A trial court's denial of an IRAA petition "becomes final," and thus starts the three-year waiting period, when that court issues a written opinion stating its reasons for denial.

The most natural read of the plain text of subsection (d) and its surrounding context is that "the order on the initial application becomes final," and thus starts the three-year waiting period for a second IRAA motion, when the trial court issues its final order on the merits of the motion: a written opinion denying or granting only in part the initial application. That straightforward understanding is reflected in how this Court described subsection (d) in the only published case to discuss that provision. *See Williams*, 205 A.3d at 848 ("If a defendant's initial motion for a reduced sentence is denied, . . . [t]he defendant may file a second sentence reduction motion after five years; if that motion too is denied, he may file a third such motion after another five years."). The statute's legislative history and purpose confirm what is plain from the text: the three-year period that separates successive IRAA motions begins on the date of the trial court's final order denying the previous motion, not the date of the appellate mandate.

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