BRIEF FOR APPELLEE



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CO-645

Clerk of the Court Received 10/20/2023 08:09 AM Filed 10/20/2023 08:09 AM

RODNEY C. WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JOHN P. MANNARINO

- * ERIC HANSFORD D.C. Bar #1017785 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Eric.Hansford@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 1982-FEL-5231

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly concluded that the order denying appellant's first IRAA application did not "become final" under § 24-403.03(d) until this Court issued its mandate in October 2021, so he cannot file a second application until October 2024. While in isolation the word "final" can bear the "appealably final" meaning that appellant advocates for, in context all of the tools of statutory interpretation support the "decisively final" meaning that the trial court adopted, requiring the resolution of reconsideration motions, appeals, and remands. The phrase "becomes final" usually signals the end of the appellate process, not just appealability—especially here, where an IRAA order will already be appealably final. Moreover, the Supreme Court has explained that the word "final" in a postconviction context like this usually refers to the end of an appeal. Statutory purpose and common sense likewise support the trial court's interpretation.

By contrast, appellant's proposed interpretation ignores the possibility of multiple appealably final IRAA orders, even though the text of § 24-403.03(d) contemplates only one order that "becomes final." His interpretation also renders a significant portion of § 24-403.03(d) surplusage. And none of the other arguments he offers justify departing from the statute's plain meaning.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court Correctly Defined When an Order "Becomes Final."

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

The IRAA mandates waiting periods following an unsuccessful (or only partially successful) IRAA application:

If the court denies or grants only in part the defendant's 1st application under this section, a court shall entertain a 2nd application under this section no sooner than 3 years after the date that the order on the initial application becomes final. If the court denies or grants only in part the defendant's 2nd application under this section, a court shall entertain a 3rd and final application under this section no sooner than 3 years following the date that the order on the 2nd application becomes final.

D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d) (emphasis added).

The proper interpretation of a statute is a question that this Court decides de novo. *United States v. Facon*, 288 A.3d 317, 328 (D.C. 2023).

B. The Tools of Statutory Construction Support the Trial Court's Interpretation.

1. Multiple Meanings of "Final"

"Finality is variously defined; like many legal terms, its precise meaning depends on context." *Clay v. United States*, 537 U.S. 522, 527 (2003). In the abstract, a trial court's decision could be called "final" for one of two conceivable reasons here.

First, a decision may be called "final" because it is ripe for appeal. Generally, this Court's appellate jurisdiction—mirroring federal appellate jurisdiction—extends to "all final orders and judgments of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia." Facon, 288 A.3d at 332 (quoting D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1) and citing 28 U.S.C. § 1291). So a trial court's decision may be appealed when it is a "final' order" as to the trial court—that is, "it disposes of the issues in the case before the court 'so that the court has nothing remaining to do." Id. at 332 (quoting Rolinski v. Lewis, 828 A.2d 739, 745 (D.C. 2003) (en banc)); accord Clay, 537 U.S. at 527 ("Typically, a federal judgment becomes final for appellate review and claim preclusion purposes when the district court disassociates itself

from the case, leaving nothing to be done at the court of first instance save execution of the judgment."). We refer to this type of finality as "appealably final."²

Second, a decision may be called "final" because it decisively resolves the litigation between the parties, subject to no further judicial review. For example, the one-year limitations period for filing a federal postconviction motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 usually runs from the "date on which the judgment of conviction becomes final." 28 U.S.C. § 2255(f)(1). In that "context [of] postconviction relief," "finality has a long-recognized, clear meaning: Finality attaches when [the Supreme] Court affirms a conviction on the merits on direct review or denies a petition for a writ of certiorari, or when the time for filing a certiorari petition expires." *Clay*, 537 U.S. at 527. We refer to this type of finality as "decisively final."

_

² Ironically, this very appeal might at first blush seem to lack a "final order" subject to appeal under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1), given that the trial court's ruling merely delayed appellant's filing of his second IRAA application. But we agree with appellant (see Br. 2) that this Court has jurisdiction under the collateral-order doctrine. *See McNair Builders, Inc. v. Taylor*, 3 A.3d 1132, 1135-36 (D.C. 2010).

2. Meaning of "Becomes Final"

This case does not ask when a trial court's IRAA decision "is final" in the abstract, however. Instead, § 24-403.03(d) sets the minimum waiting period after the denial of the defendant's application from "the date that the order on the initial application becomes final." The word "become" indicates that finality is not inherent in the order denying the prior IRAA application—it is not a quality that the order necessarily has upon its issuance. Rather, "becomes" signals that finality of the order "come[s] into existence" or "come[s] to be" at some later point.3 Thus, for example, the Supreme Court has held that in order for an employee "to establish that he or she 'may become eligible" for ERISA benefits, "a claimant must have a colorable claim that (1) he or she will prevail in a suit for benefits, or that (2) eligibility requirements will be fulfilled in the future." Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. v. Bruch, 489 U.S. 101, 117-18 (1989)

³ Become, Merriam-Webster, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/become (last accessed Oct. 4, 2023) ("1 a: to come into existence[;] b: to come to be | become sick | They both became teachers. 2: to undergo change or development | The pain was becoming more intense."); see also Become, Oxford English Dictionary, https://www.oed.com/dictionary/become_v ("[t]o come to be (something or in some state)").

(emphasis added); see also, e.g., District of Columbia v. Clawans, 300 U.S. 617, 627 (1937) ("commonly accepted views of the severity of punishment by imprisonment may become so modified that a penalty once thought to be mild may come to be regarded as so harsh as to call for the jury trial") (emphasis added).

Yet a dispositive ruling on an IRAA application—whether granting it or denying it (or granting it in part and denying it in part)—will naturally be *appealably* final (see App'x C at 8-9). The ruling will "dispose[] of the issues in the case before the court 'so that the court has nothing remaining to do." *Facon*, 288 A.3d at 332. So it makes little sense to describe the order as "becoming final" if "final" in the statute means only appealable. The statute's emphasis on the point in time when the order "becomes" final thus cuts strongly in favor of the decisively-final meaning—the time when any appellate process has played out, and the litigation has definitively concluded.

And indeed, when statutes and courts use a variation on the phrase "becomes final," they usually mean "final" in that decisively-final sense, where any appellate process is over. *See, e.g.*, 28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(1)(A) (one-year limitation period for filing writ of habeas corpus runs from "the

date on which the judgment became final by the conclusion of direct review or the expiration of the time for seeking such review") (all emphases in string-cite added); AMG Cap. Mgmt., LLC v. FTC, 141 S. Ct. 1341, 1346 (2021) ("If judicial review favors the Commission (or if the time to seek judicial review expires), the Commission's order normally becomes final (and enforceable)."); Caspari v. Bohlen, 510 U.S. 383, 390 (1994) ("A state conviction and sentence become final for purposes of retroactivity analysis when the availability of direct appeal to the state courts has been exhausted and the time for filing a petition for a writ of certiorari has elapsed or a timely filed petition has been finally denied."); Thunder Basin Coal Co. v. Reich, 510 U.S. 200, 218 (1994) ("the Secretary's penalty assessments become final and payable only after full review by both the Commission and the appropriate court of appeals."); Pittston Coal Grp. v. Sebben, 488 U.S. 105, 121-22 (1988) ("[I]nitial administrative determinations become final after 30 days if not appealed to the Benefits Review Board, and persons aggrieved by a final order of the Board may have such an order set aside only by petitioning for review in a court of appeals within 60 days of the final order. Determinations of all of the Sebben claims became final at one of these two stages.")

(citations omitted); Atlas Roofing Co., Inc. v. Occupational Safety & Health Rev. Comm'n, 430 U.S. 442, 446-47 (1977) ("the Commission's subsequent order directing abatement and the payment of any assessed penalty becomes final unless the employer timely petitions for judicial review in the appropriate court of appeals"); Burnett v. New York Cent. R. Co., 380 U.S. 424, 435 (1965) ("the limitation provision is tolled until the state court order dismissing the state action becomes final by the running of the time during which an appeal may be taken or the entry of a final judgment on appeal"); Mobley v. S. Ry. Co., 418 A.2d 1044, 1050 (D.C. 1980) (same); Washington Gas Light Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of D.C., 61 A.3d 662, 674 (D.C. 2013) ("orders that are not challenged by reconsideration motion or appeal become final for the purpose of assessing forfeitures once it is clear they will not be timely challenged"); Nat'l Council of Am.-Soviet Friendship, Inc. v. Subversive Activities Control Bd., 322 F.2d 375, 378 (D.C. Cir. 1963) ("If this court affirms the order or dismisses the petition for review, and no petition for certiorari is filed, the order of the Board becomes final."). Similarly, in § 24-403.03(d),

the prior denial is most naturally understood to "become final" when the appellate process ends.⁴

3. Postconviction Context

Multiple contextual clues confirm that plain meaning of § 24-403.03(d): a trial court's order denying the defendant's IRAA application "becomes final" when the appellate process has run, rather at the time that the order is first subject to appeal.

To begin, the IRAA is a statute for postconviction relief. The Supreme Court has that explained when "the relevant context is postconviction relief," "finality has a long-recognized, clear meaning: Finality attaches when this Court affirms a conviction on the merits on direct review or denies a petition for a writ of certiorari, or when the time for filing a certiorari petition expires." *Clay*, 537 U.S. at 527.

⁴ We do not claim that *every* use of the phrase "becomes final" bears this meaning. Though normally if a court means the order "becomes final" in the sense that it becomes subject to appeal, it says so. *See*, *e.g.*, *Clay*, 537 U.S. at 527 ("Typically, a federal judgment *becomes final for appellate review* and claim preclusion purposes when the district court disassociates itself from the case, leaving nothing to be done at the court of first instance save execution of the judgment.") (emphasis added).

Appellant counters that by "postconviction relief," Clay really meant "collateral review" challenging the legality of a conviction, like a collateral attack under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or D.C. Code § 23-110 (Appellant's Brief (Br.) 24-25). But there is no reason to give Supreme Court precedent that stilted narrowing. A motion to reduce a sentence under the IRAA or otherwise—fits comfortably into the normal meaning of "postconviction relief." See, e.g., In re Gordon, 747 A.2d 1188, 1189 (D.C. 2000) (attorney "was appointed to represent an indigent criminal defendant seeking post-conviction relief, specifically a reduction in his sentence"); 3 Sarah N. Welling, Federal Practice and Procedure (Wright & Miller) § 613 (5th ed. updated June 2023) (comparing Rule 35 motion to reduce sentence to "other post-conviction remedies"). And anyway, whatever the pre-Clay landscape, Clay's clear explanation of the meaning of "finality" when "the relevant context is postconviction relief" has itself created a background understanding of the term that subsequent laws including the IRAA—legislate against. Thus, the IRAA's reference to finality within the context of postconviction relief alone "would ordinarily determine the meaning of 'becomes final": when the appellate process has finished.

By contrast, the context where "final" is used to mean appealably final is (unsurprisingly) usually in laws and court rules providing the procedures and deadlines for taking an appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1); D.C. Code § 16-4427(a)(6); D.C. App. R. 4(a)(6), (b)(5). Timelines in such cases are usually measured in a *maximum* of days—not the *minimum* of three years provided in § 24-403.03(d). *See*, *e.g.*, *id*. That makes sense. Focus on whether a decision is subject to immediate appeal (and thus appealably final) is an important part of the appellate process, but it usually carries little significance outside of that appellate context.

4. The Multiple-Orders Problem

Interpreting "final" to require only an appealably-final order also runs into textual and practical problems, as there can be multiple appealable orders stemming from a single IRAA application.

Indeed, any time a defendant prevails in a motion for reconsideration or an appeal but fails to obtain immediate release, there will be at least two such orders. The first appealable order denying the IRAA application will come when the trial court initially denies the motion. But if the defendant (or, for that matter, the government after a

partial denial) convinces the trial court to reconsider, the trial court will have to issue a new order, which will likewise be appealable. Or, if the defendant appeals and wins a remand from this Court, the trial court will have to issue a new order responding to this Court's remand, and that new order will again be appealable.

Yet the text of § 24-403.03(d) contemplates only one "final" order: "a court shall entertain a 2nd application under this section no sooner than 3 years after *the date* that *the order* on the initial application becomes final." *See Niz-Chavez v. Garland*, 141 S. Ct. 1474, 1483 (2021) ("using a definite article with a singular noun ('the notice')" indicates "a discrete thing"). Interpreting "final" to mean appealable, where there can be multiple appealable orders, thus contradicts the statutory text.

Moreover, the possibility of multiple appealable orders leaves uncertainty about which order denying the application would trigger the start of the three-year waiting period. The initial order? The order on reconsideration? The order on remand? The text offers no answer, as each of these qualifies as an order that "denies or grants only in part the defendant's [prior] application." Had the D.C. Council intended for "final" to mean appealable, it could have easily clarified that the period runs

from the date that "the first order" or "the last order" on the application becomes final. The lack of such a qualifier in the statute cuts against the appealably-final meaning. Appellant recognizes the benefits of clarity here, contending that his interpretation eliminates supposed ambiguity in the unusual situation when a trial court issues a tentative oral ruling with a written opinion to follow (Br. 14-15), a claim we address below. See infra Part B.5. But he ignores the gaping statutory uncertainty left by his preferred interpretation.

By contrast, interpreting "final" to mean decisively final offers a clear answer: the three-year period runs from the time that the litigation on the prior application has concluded.

5. Surplusage

Further, as the trial court explained (App'x C at 7-10), interpreting "becomes final" in § 24-403.03(d) merely to mean that the order is appealable renders "becomes final" surplusage. *See Nielsen v. Preap*, 139 S. Ct. 954, 969 (2019) ("[T]he interpretive canon against surplusage" is "the idea that 'every word and every provision is to be given effect [and that n]one should needlessly be given an interpretation that causes it to duplicate another provision or to have no consequence."). That is because

an "order on the [prior] application" that "denies or grants only in part the defendant's [prior IRAA] application," D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d), is already "final" in the sense of being appealable.⁵

Put another way, if appellant's interpretation were correct, the statute could have been written as follows, with no difference in meaning:

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